1969

Le Roy Sweat and Virginia M. Sweat, Administratrix of the Estate Of Blaine Orvel Sweat, Deceased, v. Rex T. Fuhriman, Craig Fuhriman, James H. Maddox and Dan Allison : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action for wrongful death brought by the
parents of the deceased, Blaine Orvel Sweat.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The respective parties all filed motions for summary
judgment and the court denied plaintiffs' motion for sum-
mary judgment and granted summary judgment for the
defendants.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek to have their motion for summary judgment granted or that the matter be sent back for trial.

STATEMENT OF FACT

Appellants contend that on Saturday night, May 18, 1968, defendant Craig Fuhriman, age 21, and the son of Defendant Rex T. Fuhriman who was also the owner of the car Craig was driving, was returning from a fishing trip to Flaming Gorge with David Lund as his companion. They ran out of gas on Highway US 40 about 22 miles East of Heber City, Utah, at approximately 11:00 p.m.

This is the spot where the accident later happened. The road is generally straight and level in each direction. Toward the East there was visibility from the stalled car for about one and six-tenths (1.6) miles and toward the West there was visibility for approximately one-half mile. The highway was divided into two lanes by paint marks down the center. At this time of night the traffic was light and the weather was clear and the road dry.

Defendant Craig Fuhriman and Lund hitched a ride to Heber City. No lights were left burning on the Fuhriman vehicle. They stopped at a Conoco station and asked the attendant for help in getting gas for their car.

Defendant James H. Maddox had taken the family car and gone to Price. He left a Jeep with his son, Steven

Maddox. Steven loaned the Jeep to Rickie Lee Allison, a sixteen year old boy and brother-in-law of James H. Maddox.

Rickie Lee Allison and Blaine Orvel Sweat, also sixteen years of age, had been to the local high school dance and stopped at a cafe adjacent to the service station. The station attendant asked Allison to assist Fuhriman. Allison agreed but indicated they would first have to take their dates home. This was done and Allison and Sweat returned to the Conoco station but there was no gas can at the station which could be used to transport gas.

The four boys then went in the Maddox Jeep, with Allison driving, to a service station at the Strawberry Junction, passing the Fuhriman vehicle on the way. There they awoke the attendant but he also did not have a gas can. The Allison boy said he had a second gas tank on the Jeep. Fuhriman then purchased \$2.00 worth of gasoline which was put in the second gas tank. The four then returned, Allison driving, to the Fuhriman car. They went past it a short distance, made a U turn and returned and parked parallel with the Fuhriman car so the gas tanks were even. The Fuhriman vehicle was facing West toward Heber City and the Maddox Jeep was facing East toward Vernal. There is a dispute as to whether the Fuhriman car was completely off the black-top of the road or whether the left wheels were on the paved portion. The Jeep was in the West lane of traffic facing on-coming traffic. Four yellow blinker lights on the Jeep were turned on and its head lights were on bright. There were about two or three feet between the two parked vehicles. Craig Fuhriman got out

of the back end of the Jeep to watch for on-coming traffic. The Allison boy started to siphon gas out but got his mouth full of gas and started to cough and choke. Sweat then picked up the siphone hose, and while standing between the two vehicles started to siphon gas from one car to the other.

It was now early Sunday morning, May 19, 1968. The party of four had been there about five minutes when a car driven by Mr. Sargent ran into the two parked vehicles. Allison was killed outright and Sweat lived a few days in a hospital before dying. He never regained consciousness enough to talk. Fuhriman and Lund were also injured but have recovered.

POINT I

DEFEDANT DAN ALLISON IS LIABLE FOR NEGLIGENCE OF RICKIE LEE ALLISON.

Dan Allison signed the drivers license of his son, Rickie Lee Allison. Thus under the provisions of Section 41-2-10 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, he is liable for Rickie's conduct in the operation of the Jeep.

POINT II

RICKIE LEE ALLISON'S NEGLIGENCE WAS THE CAUSE OF THE INJURY AND DEATH OF BLAINE ORVEL SWEAT.

Rickie Lee Allison was the driver at all times of the Jeep and he is the one who agreed to help the stranded motorists. The depositions reveal that the Sweat boy never at any time agreed to any action or conduct of Fuhriman or Allison. He was an innocent bystander caught in a situation where common courtesy demands and requires that he does not interfere with the help requested by Fuhriman.

Allison parked the Jeep on a highway blocking a lane of traffic. Allison turned the Jeep to face on-coming traffic with four yellow blinker lights and the head lights on bright. (See the deposition of Trooper Giles, page (9), lines (15) through (17), and a statement of Harold J. Sargent.

Allison failed to give any warning to approaching traffic. The road was straight for 1.6 miles (Deposition of Trooper Giles, page (26) lines (1) through (5). This would give time to signal on-coming traffic or for a driver to see any signal of warning properly given.

POINT III

THE GUEST STATUTE IS NOT APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE.

The guest statute applies to persons riding in a motor vehicle. This is repeated time and again in the statute, Section 41-9-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953.

Some cases have extended the statute to cover mounting and alighting from a motor vehicle but none have ex-

tended it so far as to include a fact situation like the present case. The journey for the time had ended, all occupants were out of the vehicle and had embarked on another venture. This activity was unrelated to riding in a car. No guest vehicle was moving.

POINT IV

CRAIG FUHRIMAN'S NEGLIGENCE WAS THE CAUSE OF THE INJURY AND DEATH OF BLAINE ORVEL SWEAT.

The negligence of Craig Fuhriman which contributed to the injury and death of Blaine Orvel Sweat can be summarized as follows:

1. Although he was an experienced driver he ran out of gas on a main arterial highway. (His deposition Page 13, lines 14 through 17.)

2. Left wheels of his car were parked on the black top portion of the highway when the car was abandoned. (Deposition of Trooper Giles, Page 9, lines 9 through 11, Page 15, lines 15 through 25, Page 16, lines 1 through 5.)

3. No lights were left on the car at any time. (His deposition, Page 44, lines 13 through 15.)

4. Knew how gasoline was to be siphoned from one motor vehicle to another and did not object. (His deposition Page 95, lines 14 through 22.)

5. Permitted a sixteen year old driver to park on the wrong side of the highway facing on-coming traffic. (His deposition Page 56, lines 20 and 21.)

6. Failed to put out any warning signals or devices of any kind. (His deposition Page 59, lines 1 through 18, Page 96 lines 20 through 25 and Page 97, lines 1 through 16.)

7. After the Jeep was stopped he stood to the rear of the Jeep to observe traffic. (His deposition Page 44, line 11.)

8. He failed to observe on-coming traffic as soon as he should have done under the circumstances. (His deposition Page 78, lines 22 through 25, and Page 79, lines one and two.)

9. Failed to inform approaching traffic of the dangerously parked vehicles. (His deposition Page 27, lines 2 through 6.)

10 He permitted the traffic approaching the parked vehicles to approach so close before giving warning that he was able to run only a couple of steps before he was struck by the Jeep which had been hit by the Sargent car. (His deposition, Page 38, lines 3 and 4.)

“Failure to observe is negligence proximately contributing to harm where, by observing, driver could have avoided or lessened resulting harm.”

Morris v. Christensen, 356 P2d, 34; 11 U2d 140.

“A motorist’s duty of lookout is not fulfilled by merely taking a quick glance, or none.”

Hughes v. Hooper, 431 P2d 983, 19 Utah 2d 389.

POINT V

CRAIG FUHRIMAN IS LIABLE FOR THE INJURY AND DEATH OF BLAINE ORVEL SWEAT UNDER THE DOCTRINE OF LAST CLEAR CHANCE.

All the elements of the Doctrine of Last Clear Chance are present in this case.

Sweat was in a position of peril. He could not see the on-coming car lights. See affidavit of Ranquist.

Defendant Craig Fuhriman was watching for on-coming traffic (his deposition, page 44, line 11) but he failed to give a warning in time. He himself was only able to run a couple of steps (his deposition, page 38, line 4) before he was hit by the Jeep which had been struck by the Sargent car.

Blaine Sweat was struck by the Sargent vehicle while standing between the vehicles trying to syphon gas into the Fuhriman car and died as a result of the injuries.

Mr. Fuhriman was twenty-one (21) years of age with five (5) years of driving experience, driving his father’s automobile. He had contributed to the dangerous situation,

but he, alone, had the Last Clear Chance to avoid the accident by giving adequate warning of approach of the Sargent vehicle from the East, this he failed to do. The Allison boy, having a mouth full of gas, was clearing his mouth and nose of the gas and its fumes. Blaine Orvel Sweat was concentrating on syphoning gas, but Craig Fuhriman and his passenger were standing looking to the East toward the approaching car with a full knowledge of the peril of Blaine Sweat. Such conduct is a breach of the Doctrine of Last Clear Chance.

Section 480 of the Retatement of Torts states the provisions of the Last Clear Chance, such as are applicable in this case, as follows:

“A plaintiff, who, by the exercise of reasonable vigilance could have observed the danger created by the defendant's negligence in time to have avoided harm therefrom, may recover if, but only if the defendant (a) knew of the plaintiff's situation, and (b) realized or had reason to realize that the plaintiff was inattentive and therefore unlikely to discover his peril in time to avoid the harm, and (c) thereafter is negligent in failing to utilize with reasonable care and competence his then existing ability to avoid harming the plaintiff.”

The terminology of this Section has been adopted by the Supreme Court of the State of Utah.

Graham v. Johnson, 166 P, 2d 230;

Compton v. Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Co., 120 Utah 453; 235 P. 2d 515.

A complete discussion of the Doctrine of Last Clear Chance and its application is found in 92 ALR 47, supplemented in 119 ALR 1041, and 171 ALR 365.

In the case of *Graham v. Johnson*, 169 P. 2d 230, at Page 238, the Supreme Court of the State of Utah stated:

“... In situations where reasonable minds must all come to the conclusion that a defendant had ample opportunity to utilize an existing ability to avoid harm to the plaintiff the court should direct a verdict for the plaintiff; in situations where reasonable minds must all conclude that a defendant did not have such opportunity the verdict should be directed for the defendant. . .”

It is claimed that Blaine Sweat was negligent in placing himself between the two automobiles to siphon gas or negligent in failing to see the approaching Sargent car, assuming but not admitting the negligence of Sweat, the subsequent negligence of Craig Fuhriman brings the humanitarian Doctrine of the Last Clear Chance into being.

“Even though a plaintiff was negligent, if defendant had last clear chance to avoid accident, plaintiff was entitled to recover damages, notwithstanding his own negligence.

“Plaintiff may recover, notwithstanding his own negligence if he is in a situation of inextricable peril and defendant either knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should know of such peril, and thereafter has a clear opportunity to avoid the injury or fails to do so, since under such circumstances plaintiff's negligence has in a sense come to rest and is not a concurring approximate cause of in-

jury, but negligence of defendant is later, intervening sole proximate cause.”

Marcellin v. Osgthorpe, 336 Ped 779, 9 Utah 2d 1.

In the case of *Jones v. Knudson*, 400 Ped 562, 16 Utah 2d 332, this court held that if a jury could find the necessary facts for the application of the Doctrine of Last Clear Chance that plaintiff's contributory negligence would be irrelevant.

The case of *Beckstrom v. Williams*, 282 P2d 309, 3 Utah 2d 210 also holds that a negligent plaintiff may recover under the theory of Last Clear Chance. See also *Lawrence v. Bamberger Railroad Company*, 282 P2d 335, 3 Utah 2d, 247.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons herein stated, plaintiffs submit that their motion for summary judgment should have been granted, particularly as to defendant Craig Fuhriman, and that the trial court's order granting defendant's motion for summary judgment should be reversed, or in the alternative the plaintiff should be granted a right to trial on the issues.

J HAROLD CALL
Attorney for Appellants
23 Center Street