1969

Le Roy Sweat and Virginia M. Sweat, Administratrix of the Estate Of Blaine Orvel Sweat, Deceased, v. Rex T. Fuhriman, Craig Fuhriman, James H. Maddox and Dan Allison : Brief of Respondents James H. Maddox and Dan Allison

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action for wrongful death.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court granted summary judgment in favor of all defendants, no cause of action, and denied plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment against defendants, Rex T. Fuhriman, Craig Fuhriman and Dan Allison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

These defendants seek affirmance of the judgment of the lower court in their favor.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 19, 1968, at approximately 2:00 a.m. 22 miles east of Heber on Highway 40 in Wasatch County, Blaine Orvel Sweat was struck by a west-bound DeSoto automobile driven by Harold J. Sergeant and killed (R. 124, attached accident reports).

Plaintiffs are the father, mother and administratrix of the estate of Blaine Orvel Sweat, deceased (R. 136, page 5). Plaintiffs were not witnesses to the accident (R. 136, page 10).

Defendant Rex. T. Fuhriman, the father of Craig Fuhriman, is the owner of the Chevrolet Impala automobile used by his son, Craig, at the time of the accident (R. 109, page 5). Rex T. Fuhriman did not witness the accident. Defendant James H. Maddox is the owner of a 1966 jeep. This jeep was loaned by him the day before the accident to his brother-in-law, Rickie Allison. Defendant James H. Maddox was in Price, Utah, at the time of the accident and did not witness it (R. 59).

Dan Allison, the other defendant, did not see the accident either. He is the father of Rickie Allison, deceased.

Where the accident happened, Highway 40, was generally straight and level in each direction (R. 124, page 25). The roadway was marked for one lane in each direction (R. 124, attached diagrams to depositions).

Defendant, James H. Maddox, used the Dan

Allison family automobile to go on the trip to Price. He loaned his jeep, a 1966 model, to his brother-in-law, Rickie Allison to use. Maddox granted Rickie permission to use the jeep to go from Rickie's home to Christensen Brothers farm. Rickie had a milking job each morning and evening and needed transportation to and from work (R. 53).

In spite of specific instructions from James Maddox to Rickie Allison not to use the jeep for any purpose except to go to and from milking at Christensen Brothers, the employer of Rickie Allison, Rickie took the jeep on Saturday night and used it to go to the Yearbook Dance at Wasatch High School. After 5:00 p.m. on May 18, 1968, Blaine Sweat, the deceased, used and rode in the jeep with Rickie Allison. After the dance, Blaine Sweat and Rickie Allison met Craig Fuhriman and his friend, Henry Lund, who were returning to Salt Lake City from a fishing trip at Flaming Gorge at a service station near the Y in Heber (R. 136, page 14).

Fuhriman and Lund, who were driving an Impala automobile westward on Highway 40, had run out of gas 22 miles east of Heber. Prior to running out of gas, they parked their automobile off the roadway facing left and left it without lights showing. They hitchhiked into Heber to obtain a container of gasoline (R. 136, pages 13, 14).

Fuhriman and Lund were not able to get a container for gasoline at the Y Conoco service sta-

tion in Heber, but arranged with Rickie Allison and Blaine Sweat to get a ride back to their stalled automobile (R. 136, page 15). They left the service station in Heber at about 1:30 a.m. and drove in a topless jeep. There was no conversation between Allison and Sweat, sitting in the front, and Fuhri-man and Lund sitting in the rear of the open jeep. It was too cold and noisy to talk (R. 136, page 18).

They drove to the Strawberry station, woke up the operator and asked for gas and a container (R. 136, page 16). This station is located about a mile or mile and one-half east of where the Impala was stalled (R. 136, page 16). The operator of this service station told the boys he had no container and thereafter Fuhriman purchased \$2 worth of gasoline and had it put in the tanks of the jeep (R. 136, pages 16, 17). The boys intended to siphon gas from one vehicle to the other (R. 136, page 17).

After getting the \$2 worth of gas, Allison drove the jeep back to the Chevrolet Impala (R. 136, page 18). Rickie Allison drove back west past the stalled Impala, parked along the north edge of the roadway turned around and then parked the jeep facing east along the north edge of the roadway in the west-bound lane (R. 136, pages 19, 20). He left the lights of the jeep on and activated the flasher lights (R. 136, pages 22, 23). The jeep was parked so that the cap to its gas tank matched the cap of the stalled Impala with a space of about 3 feet in between.

No one went to the east or west to flag or warn

traffic. The jeep blocked the westbound roadway and its lights shined down the straight road to the east (R. 136, page 26).

Rickie Allison took the siphon hose and endeavored to start to siphon gasoline from one tank to the other (R. 136, page 24). Almost immediately he got a mouth full of gasoline and had to quit. He moved to the rear of the stalled Impala operated by Fuhriman and was spitting out gasoline (R. 136, page 25). Blaine Sweat, without instructions from anyone, picked up the siphon hose and endeavored to start to siphon. While this was taking place, Craig Fuhriman and Henry Lund were standing along the edge of the jeep west of Sweat a few feet (R. 136, page 26). While Blaine Sweat was siphoning, Craig Fuhriman looked to the east and saw a vehicle approaching at a speed judged to be about 60 miles an hour about a block away (R. 136, page 62). He watched this vehicle for half a block and realized it was not going to stop and shouted a warning to the others and started to run (R. 136, page 62). Blaine Sweat was siphoning gas when the warning was shouted (R. 136, page 61). Fuhriman does not know exactly where Lund and Allison were when he started to run (R. 136, page 63). Craig Fuhriman took three or four steps west and then was struck and knocked down (R. 136, page 64). After this impact, he picked himself up and observed that the jeep was still standing on the roadway facing east with its lights on. He also observed that a car had struck

the rear of the unlighted Impala and pushed it off the roadway across the north barrow pit. After the impact Rickie Allison and Blaine Sweat were lying unconscious in the barrow pit northwest of where last seen (R. 136, page 66). Officer Gile's testimony shows that Rickie Allison was standing to the rear of the Impala when it was struck by a westbound DeSoto driven by Harold J. Sergent. Sergent, who was driving west, went off the road on his right to avoid the jeep and struck the rear of the Impala after hitting Rickie Lee Allison (R. 124, attached accident report).

POINT I
APPELLANTS' BRIEF DOES NOT SUPPORT
AN APPEAL AGAINST MADDOX.

Appellants in their brief state no ground or point supporting a reversal of the judgment in favor of James Maddox. The general rule is that when the appellant fails to set forth a specification of error as against a party in a brief, a higher court may affirm the judgment without reference to the merits of the case.

In *Roth vs. Palutzke*, (1960) 350 P.2d 358, the plaintiff failed to set forth any specifications of error in his brief as required by the Supreme Court rule of the State of Montana.

Deemer vs. Reichart, (1965) 195 Kan. 232, 404 P.2d 174, holds the reviewing court was required to take as established fact that party was negligent in parking a truck on highway where appellant failed

to raise the issue in Statement of Points on Appeal as to existence of negligence.

In *Lepasiotes vs. Dinsdale*, (1952) 121 Utah 359, 242 P.2d 297, this court affirmed a judgment where the appellants failed to specifically assign error. This court said:

“As to any prejudicial error claimed, none of the many rulings on admission of evidence was assigned specifically on appeal as constituting prejudicial error, so that any decision thereon would require discussion of all objections, — no one of which plaintiff has had an opportunity to meet in her brief because of such nondesignation. Therefore, we feel constrained not to review those matters which plaintiff cannot defend against because not called to attention by her opponents.”

In *In Re Lavelle's Estate*, this court said, insofar as it is practical, an appellant who challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the court's finding of undue influence must detail, with citation to the record where appropriate, the particulars where in the evidence touching the finding is inconsistent therewith or is not enough moment to sustain it.

The purpose of a brief is to pinpoint how it is alleged the lower court erred. Since appellant's brief sets out no points or grounds as to alleged error in granting the judgment in favor of Maddox and against appellants, it is presumed the lower court did not err.

Unless this court is clairvoyant, it like Maddox and his attorneys is prejudiced by appellants' failure to assign specific error.

Matters not called to the attention of a party should not be raised on appeal.

POINT II

IF RICKIE ALLISON WAS NEGLIGENT,
BLAINE ORVEL SWEAT WAS NEGLIGENT.

When Blaine Orvel Sweat was struck by Sergeant's automobile, he was engaged in siphoning gas from the tank of the jeep to the tank of the Impala. No one directed him to do this. Blaine Sweat was a volunteer. All of the boys, including Blaine Orvel Sweat, knew the jeep was parked on the roadway with its lights shining east in the westbound lane of the roadway. The boys knew the jeep was parked on the wrong side of the road. None of the boys agreed to act as a lookout for the person siphoning gas. No one was keeping a lookout for oncoming traffic. No one put warning signs or signals up ahead. No one asked Blaine Orvel Sweat to do what he was doing at the time he was struck.

If it was negligence for Rickie Allison to park the jeep as he did, it follows since these facts were known by Sweat it was contributory negligence for Sweat to do what he was doing under the circumstances. Sweat is identified with whatever negligence occurred at the time and place of the accident. Sweat, as an occupant of the jeep, sitting in the front seat when it was stopped, knew exactly the

manner in which it was placed in the roadway. The stopping of the jeep, the leaving of the lights shining easterly, and the siphoning of gas were done with his acquiescence, consent and approval.

Maybee vs. Maybee, (1932) 79 Utah 585, 11 P.2d 973, is a case in point. This case arose before the passing of the Utah guest law. The defendant driver, Mrs. Maybee, the mother of the plaintiff, was very nearsighted and wore eyeglasses. The daughter, the plaintiff, knew her mother required eyeglasses for driving. The daughter knew before the accident occurred that her mother was driving without using her eyeglasses and knew that her mother relied on eyeglasses to see. This court in affirming a directed verdict in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiff in that case said :

“ * * * At the time of the accident plaintiff was eighteen years of age having become of that age April 23rd previously. Plaintiff testified that she had driven a car since she was sixteen, was familiar with the operation of the Dodge coupe and has alternated with the mother in driving the car on their trip East and the return. There is no evidence that plaintiff protested against her mother’s driving without glasses or that she offered to do the driving after the glasses were broken. It is not disputed that every fact, circumstance, and condition relied on by the plaintiff as constituting negligence on the part of the defendant was fully known to and appreciated by plaintiff, and that, notwithstanding her knowledge of the defect in the eyesight of her mother and the fact that she was driving

without the aid of glasses, the plaintiff paid no attention to the conditions in the road, but was content to sit by and read a book while her mother was driving at a speed of forty to forty-five miles an hour. *If it was negligence for the defendant to drive at this speed with her vision impaired as it was, and without the aid of glasses, it would follow that, where all these facts are fully known to and appreciated by the plaintiff, and notwithstanding such facts and such knowledge she was willing to be driven in the car, she not only assumed the risk or hazard to her own safety, which resulted from such driving, but by her acquiescence, was guilty of independent negligence which contributed to the accident. The plaintiff identified herself with whatever negligence there was on the part of the mother because of her knowledge of all such facts and her approval, consent, and acquiescence in the driving of the car by her mother.*" (Emphasis added).

Esernia vs. Overland Moving Co., (1949) 115 Utah 519, 206 P.2d 621, is another case involving acquiescence of conduct. In this case, the plaintiff hitched a ride with defendant's driver near the outskirts of Elko, Nevada, to go to Salt Lake City, Utah. At the time the plaintiff entered the truck he was told by the defendant driver that he was tired, weary and sleepy and the driver said he had driven straight through from San Francisco, California. Shortly thereafter, the driver of the defendant's vehicle went off the pavement and onto the shoulder of the road, having dozed at the wheel. After this

incident the driver and the plaintiff continued on, the driver merely requesting the plaintiff and another Marine, also picked up, to talk to him so he would remain awake. Again the driver dozed and went off the road and this time the van was upset and the plaintiff was injured. In this case there was no dispute that the driver dozed and that the plaintiff knew he was weary and tired. It was undisputed that the plaintiff had an opportunity to leave the truck but still he elected to remain.

In the above case the Supreme Court affirmed a judgment for the defendant, saying:

“The evidence was uncontroverted that appellant knew that the driver was sleepy at the time he accepted the ride and also when the truck ran off the road the first time. Thereafter he had an opportunity to leave the truck when it stopped at Wendover or Delle, or he could have left the truck at any other of the towns between Elko and the point of the accident, of the existence of which this court can take judicial notice, but he did not leave. The Restatement of the Law of Torts, vol. 2, Sec. 466, states that a plaintiff’s contributory negligence may be ‘(a) an intentional and unreasonable exposure of himself to danger created by the defendant’s negligence of which danger the plaintiff knows or has reason to know, * * * ’ and that ‘ * * * (c) * * * a common form of the type of contributory negligence dealt with in clause (a) consists of the plaintiff’s entrusting his safety to a third person whom he knows to be incompetent, customarily negligent or ill-equipped * * * ’”

In *Landru vs. Stensrud*, (1945) 219 Minn. 227, 17 N.W. 2d 322, an action was brought by an automobile guest for personal injuries suffered when the automobile which had been driven by the defendant on the ice of the lake in a fishing excursion broke through the ice. In this case the court affirmed a judgment for the defendants saying that the risk of injury from the known general hazards of the undertaking such as driving on ice constituted contributory negligence in the assumption of this risk or was not evidence of driver's negligence in respect to the condition of the ice and, therefore, was insufficient to go to the jury.

In *Burns vs. Fisher* (1957) 132 Mont. 26, 313 P.2d 1044, plaintiff-decedent remained in a truck stalled on a highway and failed to put out flares in violation of statute. In this case the court ruled plaintiff could not recover because the decedent was contributorily negligent.

Section 466 Restatement of the Law Second, Torts 2d, provides:

“§ 466. Types of Contributory Negligence
The plaintiff's contributory negligence may be either

(a) an intentional and unreasonable exposure of himself to danger created by the defendant's negligence, of which danger the plaintiff knows or has reason to know, or

(b) conduct which, in respects other than those stated in Clause (a), falls short

of the standard to which the reasonable man should conform in order to protect himself from harm.”

The law required Blaine Sweat to act as a reasonably prudent person under the circumstances.

If it was negligence for Rickie Allison to do what he did, Blaine Orvel Sweat was equally guilty of contributory negligence proximately causing his injuries and death.

Appellant’s statement that Blaine Sweat never agreed at any time to the conduct of Fuhriman or Allison is without support. As a matter of fact, the record shows he volunteered to siphon the gas and acquiesced Allison’s conduct.

CONCLUSION

The summary judgment in favor of James H. Maddox should be affirmed because:

1. Appellants have not specified any error in granting judgment in favor of him.
2. There is no evidence that James H. Maddox was negligent in loaning the jeep to Rickie Allison.

The summary judgment in favor of James H. Maddox and Dan Allison should be affirmed because if it was negligent for Rickie Allison to do what he did, it was, under the same circumstances,

contributory negligence for Blaine Orvel Sweat to act as he did at the time and place of the accident.